Public Document Pack

A Meeting of the CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW
AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE will be held
Virtually on WEDNESDAY 17 JUNE 2020 AT 7.00 PM

Susan Parsonage
Chief Executive
Published on 9 June 2020

The role of Overview and Scrutiny is to provide independent “critical friend”
challenge and to work with the Council’s Executive and other public service
providers for the benefit of the public. The Committee considers submissions
from a range of sources and reaches conclusions based on the weight of
evidence – not on party political grounds.
Note: The Council has made arrangements under the Coronavirus Act 2020
to hold this meeting virtually via Microsoft Teams. The meeting can be
watched live using the following link: https://youtu.be/44eN_AQk2So
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog from this
meeting. The use of these images or recordings is not under the Council’s
control.

Our Vision
A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business

Enriching Lives





Champion outstanding education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full
potential, regardless of their background.
Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to
complement an active lifestyle.
Engage and involve our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity which
people feel part of.
Support growth in our local economy and help to build business.

Safe, Strong, Communities





Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people.
Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to prevent the need for long term care.
Nurture communities and help them to thrive.
Ensure our borough and communities remain safe for all.

A Clean and Green Borough





Do all we can to become carbon neutral and sustainable for the future.
Protect our borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas.
Reduce our waste, improve biodiversity and increase recycling.
Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.

Right Homes, Right Places





Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.
Build our fair share of housing with the right infrastructure to support and enable our borough to
grow.
Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.
Help with your housing needs and support people to live independently in their own homes.

Keeping the Borough Moving





Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.
Tackle traffic congestion, minimise delays and disruptions.
Enable safe and sustainable travel around the borough with good transport infrastructure.
Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners to offer affordable, accessible
public transport with good network links.

Changing the Way We Work for You





Be relentlessly customer focussed.
Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around
you.
Communicate better with you, owning issues, updating on progress and responding appropriately
as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.
Drive innovative digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and
customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.

Appendix Acronyms

CPD

Continuous Professional Development

EYFS

Early Years Foundations Stage

FGB

Full Governing Body

KS1

Key Stage 1

KS2

Key Stage 2

MAT

Multi Academy Trust

NLE

National Leader of Education

NLG

National Leader of Governance

RI

Requires Improvement

RSC

Regional Schools Commissioner

SDP

School Development Plan

SEF

Self Evaluation Form

SIB

School Improvement Board

SIO

School Improvement Officer

SLT

Senior Leadership Team

TSA

Teaching School Alliance

WLP

Wokingham Learning Partnership

MEMBERSHIP OF THE CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
COMMITTEE
To be confirmed

Parent Governor Representatives
Darryl Ward, Parent Governor Representative
Vacancy, Parent Governor Representative
Diocesan Representatives
Vacancy, Roman Catholic Representative
Vacancy, C of E Representative

ITEM
NO.

WARD

SUBJECT

5.

APOLOGIES
To receive any apologies for absence.

6.

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
To confirm the Minutes of the Meeting held on 21
January 2020.

7.

DECLARATION OF INTEREST
To receive any declarations of interest

8.

PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
To answer any public questions

PAGE
NO.

7 - 14

A period of 30 minutes will be allowed for members of
the public to ask questions submitted under notice.
The Council welcomes questions from members of the
public about the work of this committee.
Subject to meeting certain timescales, questions can
relate to general issues concerned with the work of the
Committee or an item which is on the Agenda for this
meeting. For full details of the procedure for
submitting questions please contact the Democratic
Services Section on the numbers given below or go to
www.wokingham.gov.uk/publicquestions
9.
10.

MEMBER QUESTION TIME
To answer any member questions
None Specific

CHILDREN'S SERVICES PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS
To receive and consider a report containing the
Children’s Services Performance Indicators.

15 - 24

11.

None Specific

SCHOOL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND
OFSTED REPORTS
To receive a report containing details of the latest
Ofsted reports since the last meeting of the Committee
and other schools’ performance indicators.

25 - 30

12.

None Specific

VIRTUAL HEAD REPORT
To receive a report giving an update on the work of the
Virtual School.

31 - 40

13.

14.

EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government
Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting for
the following items of business on the grounds that
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information
as defined in Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of
the Act (as amended) as appropriate.
None Specific

SCHOOLS CAUSING CONCERN - PART 2
A report containing details of schools causing concern
will be considered in a Part 2 report.

Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any
other items to consider under this heading

Luciane Bowker
Tel
Email
Postal Address

CONTACT OFFICER
Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist
0118 974 6091
luciane.bowker@wokingham.gov.uk
Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN

41 - 48

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6.
MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE
CHILDREN'S SERVICES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
HELD ON 21 JANUARY 2020 FROM 7.00 PM TO 9.30 PM
Committee Members Present
Councillors: Alison Swaddle (Chairman), Jenny Cheng (Vice-Chairman), Andy Croy,
Pauline Helliar-Symons, Ken Miall, Andrew Mickleburgh and Malcolm Richards
Officers Present
Luciane Bowker, Democratic and Electoral Services Specialist
Nick Hammond, Service Manager Intelligence and Impact
Carol Cammiss, Director of Children's Services
Gillian Cole, Service Manager Schools
Adam Davis, Assistant Director Children's Social Care
Sal Thirlway, Assistant Director Learning Achievement and Partnerships
40.
APOLOGIES
An apology for absence was submitted from Councillor Prue Bray, she was substituted by
Councillor Sarah Kerr.
41.
MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
The Minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 7 January 2020 were confirmed as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.
Members wished it to be recorded that in relation to the comment about women only
swimming sessions; the complaint had been received by men, they had complained that
they were not getting the same treatment as women (men only swimming sessions).
42.
DECLARATION OF INTEREST
There were no declarations of interest.
43.
PUBLIC QUESTION TIME
There were no public questions.
44.
MEMBER QUESTION TIME
There were no Member questions.
45.
CHILDREN'S SERVICES PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The Committee received the Children’s Services Performance Indicators report which was
set out in agenda pages 15-24. The Committee also received a tabled report with
updates. The report was presented by Nick Hammond, Service Manager Intelligence and
Impact.
Members were pleased to note that the report included the trends and other requests
made by the Committee.
During the discussion of the item the following comments were made:


Members asked why were the Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP) still at 14% of
completion within the 20 week target if the service was now fully staffed, and asked
how many children this related to;

7

























Nick Hammond, stated that since quarter 2 the service had received 80 new requests
and turned around 106 plans at the same time. The issue was dealing with the
backlog and new requests at the same time;
Sal Thirlway, Assistant Director for Learning Achievement and Partnerships reiterated
that the service was having to deal with a backlog and cope with ongoing requests at
the same time. He stated the timescales were improving;
Councillor Kerr referred to the minutes of the September 2019 meeting where the
Committee was told that the service would achieve the national picture of 58% by
December 2019. She believed the service should strive for 100% and she asked what
were the barriers stopping the service from achieving better timescales;
Sal Thirlway stated that the service was working towards clearing the backlog, some of
the measures currently being undertaken would be discussed later on, during the
SEND Strategy item discussions;
In response to a question Nick Hammond stated that currently there were 66 open
EHCP assessments, 8 of those were over the 20 week target;
Sal Thirlway stated that back in September the service had underestimated the
capacity that was needed to clear the backlog;
Sal Thirlway stated that the service was aware that the curve of improvement was not
quick enough, however it was important not to compromise quality over timeliness;
Members were interested to know about the statistics around appeal cases against the
Local Authority. Nick Hammond stated that there had been 16 mediation cases in the
current financial year. Officers agreed to inform the Committee about the outcomes of
the mediation cases;
Sal Thirlway stated that some parents were in agreement to miss the timescales in
order to ensure the quality of plans;
Sal Thirlway stated that there was now more involvement of health professionals, and
quicker provision of health information to enable the service to achieve the target;
In response to a question Nick Hammond stated that there was no deadline for the
completion of the Early Help review;
In relation to dashboard 3, Members were concerned that in order to achieve the
target, the quality of assessments might have been compromised. Members were
also concerned about the percentage of repeat referrals. Adam Davis, Assistant
Director Children’s Social Care stated that there was no correlation and that the quality
had not been compromised;
In relation to dashboard 4, Adam Davis stated that visits were taking place within the
timeframe, however they were sometimes not being recorded within the timeframe;
In response to a question in relation to children protection visits, Adam Davis stated
that some families might receive unannounced visits, this depended on each case and
the risk factors. He stated that visits were set every two weeks if necessary, however
if more frequency was needed, the service would look at other strategies;
In response to a question Adam Davis stated that the recording of visits consisted in a
comprehensive report, not just recording the date of the visit. He stated that it was
possible that the recording of visits had not taken place at the point in time when the
report was run, therefore missing the deadline;
In response to a question Adam Davis stated that any change in Social Worker
inevitably had an impact on the children;
In relation to dashboard 6, Nick Hammond stated that there were various ways to
collect information on care leavers who were Not in Education Employment or Training
(NEET), mainly around the work undertaken by Children’s Services;
Adam Davis stated that the service had been working with Housing to ensure that all
care leavers were placed in suitable accommodation. There was currently one care

8








leaver in a B&B accommodation, and housing was looking to find a solution for this
case;
In relation to dashboard 7, Nick Hammond clarified that 49 was the number of children
and not the number of incidents; he apologised for the misinformation at the last
meeting;
Councillor Mickleburgh was interested to know if there were any gender issues, risks
or trends in the children missing from home/care statistics;
Members were interested to know the number of Wokingham children who had gone
missing from other local authorities; Officers agreed to report back;
Adam Davis stated that the service was using social media and LinkedIn to spread the
message about Social Worker recruitment. The service had recently made six job
offers and was looking at other potential candidates;
In response to a question Adam Davis stated that the service did look at employing
graduates. However, it was important to balance the number of newly qualified Social
Workers and experienced Social Workers; and
Councillor Kerr was interested to know the split across departments in the use of
agency workers.

RESOLVED That:
1) Officers would provide the following additional information:
a) the number of EHCP mediation cases and their outcomes;
b) the number of children missing from home/care who were placed with other local
authorities;
c) The number of agency workers split across departments; and
2) The report be noted.
Children's Services Dashboard update (tabled at the meeting)
46.
CORPORATE PARENTING BOARD REVIEW
The Committee received the Corporate Parenting Board (CPB) Review report which was
set out in agenda pages 25-36. The report was presented by Adam Davis, Assistant
Director for Children’s Social Care and Early Help.
Councillor Kerr stated that the proposal showed limited involvement of Foster Carers. In
her opinion the Local Authority should be reaching out to Foster Carers, especially in
relation to receiving the views of young children who may not be able to articulate
themselves very well. Adam Davis agreed to reflect on this.
Councillor Kerr asked Officers about the best way for Councillors to facilitate conversations
with Children In Care (CIC) and Foster Carers at social events.
Adam Davis stated that there were various events during the year that Corporate Parent
Members could attend to meet the CIC, such as the Christmas party and the summer
event. However, the attendance by Councillors last year was low. Councillors could also
get involved in one to one visits with the CIC’s Advocate where they could explain about
their role to children in care and care leavers and receive feedback.
Members agreed that CPB needed reforming and were pleased with the proposal to
improve the Board.

9

Some Members expressed concern that with the reduced number of meetings of the
Board might not allow sufficient time to review all the reports that needed to be analysed.
Adam Davis stated that the service was planning the forward plan for CPB to ensure that
reports were presented to the Board at the right times in the year.
Adam Davis stated that the new structure aimed to facilitate communication and develop
relationships with the CIC.
Some Members expressed concern that the operational board would create extra work for
Officers. Adam Davis stated that this would not be an issue because there would be two
less meeting of CPB which would free up Officers’ time.
Councillor Croy stated that Councillor Rachel Burgess, who was a Member of CPB, had
expressed concern that she had repeatedly asked for reports and not received them.
Members would like to continue to receive updates on the development of the proposal.
RESOLVED That:
1) The Committee would receive regular updates on the work of Corporate Parenting
Board; and
2) The report be noted.
47.
SCHOOL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS AND OFSTED REPORTS
Gillian Cole, Service Manager Schools presented the Schools Performance Indicators and
Ofsted reports report.
Gillian Cole stated that since the last meeting Gorse Ride Infant School had undergone an
Ofsted inspection. This had been a Section 8 inspection and the school had sustained
Good.
Members asked Officers for their comments on the recently published Ofsted report in
respect of the Northern House School. Sal Thirlway, Assistant Director for Learning
Achievement and Partnerships stated that the school had not changed its status, this had
been a monitoring report. It was agreed that this report would be discussed in the part 2
session of the meeting.
In response to a question Gillian Cole stated that Gorse Ride Infant School was having to
adapt to changes in demographics as a result of re-generation. Schools in general were
keen to get extra resources and a broader range of services; this was part of ongoing
discussions.
Members wished to congratulate the Headteacher of Gorse Ride Infant School on this
achievement.
Gillian Cole stated that the schools performance indicators would be available for the next
meeting of the Committee.
RESOLVED That the report be noted.
48.

SEND STRATEGY AND ACTION PLAN

10

Sal Thirlway present the Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Strategy report.
Some of the points made by Sal Thirlway are listed below:









The SEND inspection had identified six areas for development, these were listed in the
report;
The work timeframe was as laid out in the report;
The SEND Strategy was one of the key areas that had been identified;
Task and Finish Groups had been set up to address each of the six areas for
development and improvement;
It was recognised that the SEND Strategy needed to be developed in conjunction with
the stakeholders; this strategy was being co-produced with stakeholders and it was a
working document;
Five key strands of work had been identified within the strategy: improving data,
improved engagement with partners, improved transition arrangements (in particular
from childhood to adulthood), improved provision and co-production activity;
There was an aspiration and commitment to move towards partnership work with
stakeholders;
An action plan had been developed to deliver the strategy.

During the discussion of the item the following points were made:














Members wished to receive an update on the Strategy and Task and Finish Groups at
the September meeting;
In response to a question Sal Thirlway stated that some families decided to get private
reports because of the timeliness issue, others because they were in disagreement
with the report results;
With regards to the timeliness of Education Health and Care Plans (EHCP), Members
asked if parents who could afford private reports for therapy were jumping the queue.
Sal Thirlway stated the service was trying to avoid that from happening. However, it
was important to be careful to not ignore those reports and increase parents’
frustration;
Sal Thirlway stated that addressing the issue of timeliness of reports would reduce
parents propensity to seek private assessments;
In response to a question Sal Thirlway stated that it was necessary to base decisions
on evidence, that was the reason why the strategy was investigating this issue further;
In response to a question Sal Thirlway stated that SEND Voices Wokingham was
involved in the development of the strategy, this was one example of collaborative
work;
Sal Thirlway stated that the service had facilitated half-day sessions with partners, and
also a national speaker had been invited to present to the service and partners;
In response to a question about engagement with parents, Sal Thirlway stated that
parents would receive a post planning questionnaire, which would help the service to
understand how the parents were feeling and this information would be fed back to the
task and finish group;
In response to a question Sal Thirlway stated that the service was benchmarking
against other local authorities as well as looking into the Council’s own key
performance indicators; the service also used the Personal Outcome Evaluation Tool
(POET) to measure its performance;
Councillor Kerr was interested to know how schools, colleges and academies were
held into account. Sal Thirlway stated that SEND was a challenge for many schools.

11











It was important to support schools and promote inclusion; schools were held into
account through the schools improvement service;
In response to a question Sal Thirlway stated that most schools wanted to be inclusive
of SEND; some of the challenges was the growth of SEND and complex needs and
greater expectations from parents and carers;
Sal Thirlway stated that the Council had a good relationship with the Regional Schools
Commissioner, they were working in tandem to achieve the best results for the
children;
Members asked for an update on the proposal to build a new special school. Sal
Thirlway stated that this would be a joint venture with Reading and West Berkshire
local authorities. The site for the school was in the process of being identified within
Wokingham, the school would have 150 places. This bid had not yet been signed by
the Department for Education (DfE), therefore he could not give the timeframe yet;
Members asked if there was any documentation about the bid which was public
available that they could receive. Sal Thirlway agreed to investigate and report back;
The Chairman referred to the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) report which
was presented to the previous meeting, which stated that the numbers for SEND were
decreasing in Wokingham. Sal Thirlway stated that the information contained the
JSNA report looked at a five year trend, there was no breakdown year by year and this
masked the information. The numbers had gone up in the last 18 months, but were
not as high as they were five years ago;
Members asked if there were any signs of hard to reach groups. Carol Cammiss,
Director of Children’s Services stated that girls with Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD)
were more difficult to diagnose and were probably under represented; and
In response to a question Sal Thirlway stated that a lot of work was undertaken in
Early Years to identify traits early.

RESOLVED That:
1) The Committee would receive an update on the SEND Strategy and Task and Finish
Groups in September;
2) The report be noted.
49.
WOKINGHAM YOUNG CARERS SERVICE
The Committee received the Young Carers report which was set out in agenda pages 3750. Sal Thirlway and Adam Davis presented the report.
During the discussion of the item the following comments were made:






Councillor Kerr stated that the service offered to young carers seemed good, she was
interested to know more about the accessibility and engagement of the service;
Sal Thirlway stated that there were group activities as well as one to one activities
which were offered. Some young people’s responsibilities were such that they could
not attend social activities, others liked the social activities as it offered release;
Councillor Kerr asked why 37% of referrals had been declined by families, she was
concerned that the service may have been declined by the family and not by the young
carer who may need the help. Sal Thirlway stated that he would ask the report writer
to answer this question;
Councillor Mickleburgh asked for more information about the young carer at school
award, and he also asked if the rapid increase in numbers indicated that some young
carers were not being identified;

12






Sal Thirlway stated that there was a lot of work being undertaken with schools helping
them identify traits and signs that children may be caring for someone in their family;
Sal Thirlway would ask the report writer to respond the question about the school
award;
Councillor Croy was surprised to note that there were no referrals from GPs (page 44)
and asked if there was any engagement with GP’s. Sal Thirlway would ask the report
writer about this; and
Members were interested to know if there was a correlation with gender in the
statistics, Sal Thirlway stated that there was no gender imbalance.

Members agreed that the unanswered questions would be referred to the report writer
Lesley Buckland, Commissioning Specialist People’s Services.
RESOLVED That the report be noted and that the unanswered questions would be
forwarded to Lesley Buckland.
50.
FORWARD PLAN
The Committee considered its Forward Plan as set out in agenda pages 51-52.
Gillian Cole confirmed that the schools key performance indicators would be available for
the next meeting. Members reminded Officers that the Committee had requested data
around permanent and fixed term exclusions in schools (and academies if possible).
Members decided to add a meeting at the end of March to discuss the Children and Young
People’s Mental Health and Wellbeing. It was agreed that HOSC Members would be
invited to join this meeting. Subsequently 31 March 2020 was identified as a suitable date.
Councillor Croy stated that he would be interested to know more about the appeals
process in the Council.
Members agreed to receive a written reply on the question about the reason that the take
up of apprenticeships was so low in the Borough.
Councillor Kerr stated that in view of the fact that the Local Authority was not able to
answer questions relating to academies, the Regional Schools Commissioner should be
invited to attend a meeting to talk about academies. Members were in agreement and it
was decided that this should be a standing item in the forward plan. The Regional Schools
Commissioner would be invited once in every municipal year. Members were interested to
know more about quality assurance mechanisms for academies.
The Chairman stated she would be looking at the forward plan for the next municipal year
and asked Members to suggest items to the Committee. The following items were
identified:




Overview of appeals against the service;
School places
School transport and school transport appeals

51.
EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC
That under Section 100A(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded
from the meeting for the following item of business on the grounds that they involve the

13

likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph 3 of the Part 1 of Schedule
12A of the Act as appropriate.
52.
SCHOOLS CAUSING CONCERN - PART 2
The report was discussed in a part 2 report.

14

Agenda Item 10.
TITLE

Children's Services Performance Indictors

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on
17 June 2020

WARD

None Specific;

LEAD OFFICER

Director, Children's Services - Carol Cammiss

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Children’s Services performance indicators underpin the council’s priorities and principles
to focus on every child reaching their potential and looking after the vulnerable.
RECOMMENDATION
That the Children’s Services performance indicators be noted.
SUMMARY OF REPORT
The timing of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee means that the information reported
against in each performance indicator relates to the position at the end of March 2020.

15

Background
A full report covering the broad scope of Children’s Services is included as an appendix
to this report.

Analysis of Issues
Please see Appendix A.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council continues to face severe financial challenges over the coming years as
a result of reductions to public sector funding and growing pressures in our
statutory services. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough Council will be required
to make budget reductions of approximately £20m over the next three years and all
Executive decisions should be made in this context
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

N/A
N/A
N/A

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision
N/A
Cross-Council Implications (how does this decision impact on other Council services,
including properties and priorities?)
N/A
Public Sector Equality Duty
Please confirm that due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty has been taken and if
an equalities assessment has been completed or explain why an equalities assessment
is not required.
Reasons for considering the report in Part 2
N/A
List of Background Papers
N/A
Contact Nick Hammond
Telephone No 07789921022

Service Quality Assurance and
Safeguarding Standards
Email nick.hammond@wokingham.gov.uk

16

CHILDREN’S SERVICES DASHBOARD – QUARTER 4 2019-20
Dashboard Item 1 - Education, Health & Care Plans

Measure

2018Q4
Q1
19
18-19 19-20

Q2
19-20

Q3
19-20

Q4
19-20

Direction
of Travel

Current EHCPs in borough
(snapshot at end of period)

560

560

577

581

612

706



Current EHCPs out of borough
(snapshot at end of period)

349

349

365

402

381

402



EHCPs issued within 20 weeks of
the referral

17%

0%

0%

35.1%



12.3% 14.0%

What does this show us?
The numbers of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) funded by Wokingham
Borough Council continues to increase. The funded EHCP numbers between the end
of 2018-19 (934) and the end of Quarter 4 2019-20 (1,121) have risen by almost 20%.
In the first quarter of 2019-20, no EHCPs were issued within 20 weeks of the referral.
However, Quarters 2, 3 and 4 2019-20, have seen consistent improvement in the
number of plans issued within the 20-week timescale.
What is the background to this?
The service’s ability to issue EHC Plans within the required timescales is dependent
on its ability to appoint appropriately qualified and experienced workers. After
operating at less than 50% capacity since early 2018, the SEND care management
team achieved a full staffing complement in Quarter 2 2019-20.
What action is the service taking?
This continues to be a priority focus. The service has now cleared the backlog of EHCP
plans that were already overdue at the beginning of Quarter 4, and is using a weekly
tracker tool to ensure that draft plans still within the timescales are progressed at the
correct pace. The effect of the backlog of overdue plans diminished in each month of
Quarter 4, and subsequently the timeliness performance indicator improved with each
month (12% plans in January, 43.5% plans in February and 66.7% plans in March
were completed within 20 weeks). Early signs for Quarter 1 2020-21 are encouraging:
In April 2020, following the clearing of the backlog in the previous quarter, 18 of 19
(95%) of the EHCPs issued were within timescales.
What is the national context?
For the calendar year 2019, 60.4% of new EHC Plans across England were issued
within 20 weeks, compared to 6% in Wokingham. This is a substantial drop from the
30% seen in 2018.

17

Dashboard Item 2 – Early Help
Measure

201819

Q4
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4
18-19 19-20 19-20 19-20 19-20

Direction
of Travel

No. of referrals to Early Help

840

192

203

159

251

239



No. Early Help Assessments

638

183

184

176

181

197



Avg. length of time in days between
referral and assessment completion

40

33.7

35

25

33

42.3



What does this show us?
The numbers of referrals to the Early Help service has fluctuated between Quarter 1
and Quarter 4 2019-20, with a dip in Quarter 2. Meanwhile, the number of completed
Early Help assessments was at its highest in Quarter 4.
The average length of time taken to complete Early Help assessments has risen in
Quarter 4; however, average time in 2019-20 has improved on the preceding year,
currently taking 33.8 days.
What is the background to this?
The number of referrals from month to month ranged between 50 and 80. Just under
a third of referrals in Quarter 4 2019-20 were step down from CSC.
CSC provides an Early Help service which is focussed on tailoring provision to each
individual child. Consequently, the number of Early Help assessments on a monthly
basis does not always correspond to the fluctuations in Early Help referrals.
Assessments differ in the length of time, meaning an assessment completed one
month may have been referred quite a time before. It should be noted that the end of
quarter 4 captures the start of lockdown, and this resulted in a number of staff not
being available for work, impacting on assessment timeliness. Not every Early Help
referral will result in an assessment; Early Help work can happen alongside Social
Care work meaning an Early Help assessment is not required, and on some occasions
families do not engage with the Early Help service and an assessment cannot be
completed. Nonetheless, CSC’s flexible, child-centred approach has ensured a
consistently high rating of service by both young people and parents.
What action is the service taking?
The current performance suite around Early Help focusses solely on what happens
within the Early Help service, and doesn’t take into account what our partners are
doing to help children and families within Wokingham; this is under review. As a result
of the Covid-19 Lockdown, Early Help has seen an increase in its caseload, which will
no doubt be reflected in subsequent quarterly figures. The advantages of this and any
benefits to be derived from permanent changes will be considered post-Lockdown.
What is the national context?
Comparative national figures are not available
18for Early Help activity and timeliness.

Dashboard Item 3 – Children’s Social Care Front Door
Measure

201819

Q4
18-19

Q1
19-20

Q2
19-20

Q3
19-20

Q4
19-20

Direction of
Travel

No. of referrals to CSC

1,787

410

463

419

495

495

% of referrals to CSC which are
repeat referrals within 12 months

21.7%

22.9%

32.4%

25.1% 20.2% 24.7%



% assessments completed
within 45 working days

67.4%

84.3%

87.1%

76.3% 71.6% 60.2%





What does this show us?
The number of referrals to CSC was consistent across Quarters 3 and 4 2019-20.
However, following the implementation of Lockdown towards the end of Q4, a
substantial decrease in the number of referrals occurred, which has continued to date
and therefore will not reflect the true level of service need in the Borough.
The percentage of referrals coming into CSC for children who have been the subject
of a previous referral in last 12 months has increased again in Quarter 4 after a
decrease in Quarter 3 and the figure for 2019-20 reflects a 3.9% increase on 2018-19.
The timeliness of initial assessments completed following a referral to CSC has
declined since Quarter 1 2019-20, but due to the increase in numbers of assessments,
whilst the percentage of assessments completed in 45 working days has decreased,
the actual number completed in timeframes has increased.
What is the background to this?
Prior to Lockdown, the figures for 2019-20 suggested demand was increasing above
the already high-levels experienced in 2018-19 (despite lockdown leading to fewer
referrals at the end of Q4, the figures remain the same as in Q3). Work has been done
to ensure that the front-door team is resourced to meet this growing demand.
What action is the service taking?
Work is underway to ensure that the tail-off in the number of referrals to Children’s
Social Care that coincided with the implementation of lockdown (and has continued
into Quarter 1 2020-21) is modelled in terms of how this will impact the front-door in
the future. Early indications suggest that a sudden surge in demand is unlikely, but
increased demand compared to previous ‘normal’ levels will be seen for some months.
The service is also seeking to understand the impact that the lockdown is having on
families, and whether this will lead to a cohort with increased needs.
What is the national context?
The South East and England averages for assessments completed within 45 days are
82% and 83% respectively. The Wokingham percentage of repeat referrals within 12
months (21.1%) is below the England average of 22.6% and the South East average
of 25.1%.
19

Dashboard Item 4 – Child Protection
Measure
Children subject to CP Plans
(snapshot at end of period)
% of children starting a plan who
had a previous one in the last 2
years
% of child protection visits within
timescale

201819

Q4
18-19

Q1
19-20

Q2
19-20

Q3
19-20

Q4
19-20

124

132

131

129

145

146



8.7%

11.4%

13%

24%

5%

9.6%



73.6%

69.7%

72.7%



65.2% 74.1% 79.0%

Direction
of Travel

What does this show us?
The number of children on child protection plans has increased by 1 between the end
of Quarter 3 2019-20 and the end of Quarter 4.
Of those children who came onto a child protection plan in Quarter 4 2019-20, only
9.6% had been subject to a previous child protection plan within the last 2 years.
The number of children protection visits completed on time has returned to previous
levels after a slight decrease in Q3.
What is the background to this?
In previous quarters, large families becoming subject to a Child Protection plan for a
second or subsequent time within 24 months distorted the indicator. This can be seen
in the significant decrease in Quarter 3, where 3 families and 3 children became
subject to a plan for a second or subsequent time within 24 months. In Quarter 4 there
were 3 families who became subject to a plan for a second or subsequent time.
What action is the service taking?
In early January, a line by line review of all out-of-timescale visits took place, identifying
themes and considering approaches to improve performance around visit timeliness.
This has proved demonstratively effective, and further efforts have been made to
achieve visits with resistant families, alongside addressing issues which had
previously resulted in recording issues. Plans were put in place early on in lockdown
to ensure children subject to protection plans could continue to be visited safely.
Contact was also made with schools and educational settings to understand which
vulnerable children took up their offer of a place during lockdown, and what the
situation was for those who didn’t.
What is the national context?
Wokingham’s Child Protection Plan per 10,000 is 32.1, which is in line with Statistical
Neighbours (35.0). Wokingham and its neighbours are slightly below the England
average of 43.7, but the Borough’s current rate is a distinct increase on 2017-18, when
the figure was 12.1, compared to an England rate of 43.3.

20

Dashboard Item 5 – Children in Care
Measure
No. children in care (snapshot at
end of period)
% visits to children in care within
timescale
% children in care who have more
than 1 allocated social worker in
12m (snapshot at end of period)

201819

Q4
18-19

Q1
19-20

Q2
19-20

Q3
19-20

Q4
19-20

Direction
of Travel

114

112

117

114

105

100



68.4%

74%

79.2% 74.3% 80.0%

81%



65.0%

61%

69.2% 70.2% 66.7%

54%



What does this show us?
The number of children in care has fallen between the end of Quarter 3 2019-20 and
the end of Quarter 4; there has also been improvement in the number of visits taking
place within timescales.
The percentage of children in care who have had more than 1 allocated worker in the
previous 12 months has fallen by 12.7 percentage points since the end of Quarter 3
2019-20.
What is the background to this?
There was some concern in 2018-19 that visits to children in care were not being
recorded in a timely manner and that quarterly figures were therefore not accurately
reflecting performance. Strong effort has been made with social workers to remove
barriers to recording, so that the data better reflects the work they are doing.
Furthermore, particular effort has been put into improving workforce stability, which is
reflected in the notable drop in the percentage of children allocated with more than
one social worker.
What action is the service taking?
In early January, a line by line review of all out-of-timescale visits took place, identifying
themes and considering approaches to improve performance around visit timeliness.
Performance has subsequently improved, and has continued to do so into Quarter 1
2020-21. All children in care were risked assessed at the beginning of lockdown to
ensure that those who needed face-to-face visits were identified and had plans put in
place for those visits to happen safely. For those with a lower identified risk, plans for
virtual visits were put into place following agreement with Independent Reviewing
Officers (IROs) and the placement providers.
The stability of the workforce is key in the allocated worker indicator. Emphasis on
recruitment of permanent staff to address this has yielded positive results.
What is the national context?
The rate of Children in Care per 10,000 is 65.0 for England and 53.0 for the South
East. The Wokingham rate for 2019-20 is significantly lower, at 28.0 per 10,000.

21

Dashboard Item 6 – Care Leavers
Measure
% of care leavers ‘in touch’
(snapshot at end of period)
% of care leavers aged 18-24 who
are NEET (snapshot at end of
period)
% of care leavers in suitable
accommodation (snapshot at end of
period)

201819

Q4
18-19

Q1
19-20

Q2
19-20

Q3
19-20

Q4
19-20

94.4%

95.8%

94.7% 89.0%

87.0%

91.8%



45.8%

42.3%

39.5% 44.3%

37.2%

33.3%



91.7%

91.5%

94%

86.9%



88%

80%

Direction
of Travel

What does this show us?
There has been an increase in the percentage of care leavers that remain in touch
with CSC compared with previous quarters in 2019-20. The percentage of care leavers
aged 18-24 who are NEET has decreased since the end of Quarter 3 2019-20 and
marks a notable improvement on Q4 last year and 2018-19 as a whole. Since Quarter
4 2018-19, the percentage of care leavers in suitable accommodation has fallen by 7
percentage points.
What is the background to this?
Wokingham generally maintains good relations with care leavers, and is in touch with
the vast majority. The continued increase in numbers reflects this. Some care
leavers are housed in temporary accommodation as part of their housing journey.
What action is the service taking?
The service takes steps to understand the reasons why Care Leavers are not in
education, employment or training, and Care Leavers are visited regularly and
supported to engage and remain in education, employment or training as appropriate.
Monthly multi-disciplinary meetings to review NEET Care Leavers are held with
strategic oversight to enable managers and practitioners from social care and
education to consider possible barriers and solutions to help encourage and support
our Care Leavers into education, training or employment. Early intervention work with
support from the Virtual Head Teacher is being explored to enable the services to
identify and intervene with those at risk of future NEET at an earlier age.
Work to get care leavers into suitable accommodation was underway during Quarter
4, and all but 3 are now (June 2020) in suitable accommodation. Of the 3 who are not,
one is in custody, one has been offered suitable accommodation but refused it, and
one – who was an unaccompanied asylum seeker – has resisted all efforts to contact
them, so their whereabouts and accommodation status cannot be verified.
What is the national context?
Nationally, 93% of care leavers are in touch with their LA; 39% of care leavers are
NEET, and; 84% are in suitable accommodation. Wokingham performs consistently
above comparable averages in regard to care
22leavers.

Dashboard Item 7 – Children Missing from Home/Care
Measure
Children missing from
home/care
% return home interviews
carried out on time
Children missing from
education (snapshot at end of
period)

201819

Q4
18-19

Q1
19-20

Q2
19-20

Q3
19-20

Q4
19-20

123

53

20

53

49

39

38%

42.9%

50%

7

7

8

62.5% 50.0% 66.7%
5

4

5

Direction
of Travel





What does this show us?
The number of children going missing from home or care has fallen notably in Quarter
4 2019-20 in comparison to Quarter 3 and is considerably lower than the same quarter
last year.
The Return Home Interviews (RHIs) taking place within timescale has increased
substantially from Q3 to Q4, and Q4 2019-20 has shown the highest rate of timely
interviews this year or last year.
The number of children missing from education has fallen since the end of 2018-19.
CSC continues to work ardently to ensure that children across the Borough are not
missing from education.
What is the background to this?
A total of 39 children went missing 88 times in Quarter 4. The seven Children in Care
within this cohort went missing a total of 26 times; four of them for more than 24 hours.
Ofsted judged the LA’s oversight of children who are missing in education to be
effective in their latest inspection report.
What action is the service taking?
The Service is working closely with partners to ensure that missing children are
given the opportunity to discuss the factors behind them going missing, whether
through a formal return home interview or otherwise. The Berkshire West
Safeguarding Children’s Partnership and its various sub-groups meet quarterly to
explore the issues around exploitation and ensure any emerging risks are identified.
Children missing in education will continue to be pursued by the Virtual School.
Since lockdown began, the Service has also taken steps to understand the reasons
why children in our most vulnerable cohorts are not taking up the school places that
were offered. This has been done in conjunction with schools to ensure that parents
are aware of their options and are in regular communication with teachers.
What is the national context?
There is no national data available for 23
comparison.

Dashboard Item 8 – Children’s Services Workforce
Measure

201819

Q4
18-19

Q1
19-20

Q2
19-20

22%

22%

17%

8%

8%

8%

34%

25%

28%

34%

31%

37%

12 months rolling turnover of
permanent qualified social workers
% agency staff across qualified
social work workforce (snapshot at
end of period)

Q3
Q4
19-20 19-20

Direction
of Travel

 
 

What does this show us?
Stability across the social work workforce is stabilising, with turnover halved since
Q1, and remaining consistent at 8% since Q2.
The percentage of agency social workers in Children’s Services has fluctuated
throughout 2019-20.
What is the background to this?
CSC struggled to recruit for vacant social worker posts in previous years, meaning
that a high proportion of social workers were agency staff. Turnover in permanent staff
has been steadily improving in recent quarters. Turnover in agency social workers is
by nature high (CSC has had ten agency staff leave since January 2020), and the
successful recruitment of permanent staff over 2019-20 – as demonstrated in previous
Dashboard Items – is producing results.
What action is the service taking?
Distinction is drawn in CSC between vacancies where there is no member of staff in
the role, and posts filled by agency social workers. Over the course of Q4, five
Qualified Social Workers have joined the service, five Newly Qualified Social Workers
have accepted offers, three Team Managers have been recruited, and five Assistant
Team Managers appointed. Building on this, CSC will continue its recruitment drive in
an effort to end the current dependence on agency staff.
A new Workforce Dashboard has been developed to provide up-to-date information
on caseloads, turnover, sickness levels and vacancies across all the social work
teams. This is integral in ensuring that cases are dealt with at the right level, and that
the Service is equipped to meet the demands placed upon it.
What is the national context?
Wokingham’s percentage rate of social worker turnover for 2019-20 is 7.4 – a
substantial drop on the previous year’s 31.6. As a result of the measures implemented
over the course of the year, the Borough is performing considerably better than
Statistical Neighbours (21.1) and England/South East at 15%.

24

Agenda Item 11.
TITLE

School Performance Indicators and Ofsted reports

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on
17th June 2020

WARD

(All Wards);

LEAD OFFICER

Director of Children's Services - Carol Cammiss

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
Clear understanding of schools’ performance in order to recognise and promote success
and ensure robust challenge and support continues to deliver improvement

RECOMMENDATION
Note the outcomes of relevant Ofsted reports and understand implications of CV-19 on
reporting of results in 2020.

25

Ofsted Inspection Outcomes February 2020-June 2020
The following Inspection reports were published in this timeframe:
Maiden Erlegh S5 Outstanding February 2020
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/23/136637

What is it like to attend this school?
Pupils receive an excellent education at this school. They excel in the subjects
they study and grow into confident, articulate individuals. Pupils come to this
school knowing they are expected to do their very best.
Leaders have the highest academic expectations for all pupils. Pupils routinely
take ownership of their learning. They often check their own work and that of
others to make it even better. Pupils expertly share what they know and remember
from the topics they learn.
Pupils feel safe at school. They are exceptionally well cared for. Bullying is
extremely rare and dealt with promptly, if it does occur. Pupils’ behaviour in
classrooms and around the school is exemplary.
Pupils’ artistic successes are displayed prominently in a central gallery for pupils,
staff and visitors to view. Pupils are rightly proud of what they can and do achieve.
Pupils are highly considerate of their own and others’ right to education. As such,
they are very respectful towards each other and the staff who work with them on a
daily basis. Parents and carers are incredibly supportive of the school. One parent
comment reflected those of many when they wrote via the Ofsted Parent View
survey, ‘This is a great all-round school.’
What does the school do well and what does it need to do better?
Leaders have developed a highly ambitious curriculum for all pupils. They consider
each pupil’s needs and abilities. Leaders match the curriculum to these expertly.
Leaders have comprehensively mapped the breadth of topics pupils learn about
from Years7 to 9 across the whole curriculum. Most pupils in key stage 4study a
modern foreign language. All pupils study religious studies, and nearly all take this
subject as a GCSE. A very high percentage of pupils study the English
Baccalaureate subjects. Leaders ensure that all pupils study a wide range of
subjects. Pupils’ subject learning is supported by an extensive out-of-lesson offer.
For example, all Year 9 pupils take part in regular STEAM (science, technology,
engineering, art and mathematics) enrichment activities.
Teachers use their expert subject knowledge to plan and deliver activities in a
logical order that helps pupils build on what they have learned before. They use
probing and often very challenging questions to make sure pupils know and
remember what has been taught. For example, in Year 7 religion and philosophy,
pupils used specific subject terminology accurately to discuss and debate the
question posed by their teacher, ‘Does God really exist? ’Furthermore, teachers
use other, highly effective methods for checking that pupils are secure in the
knowledge and skills they have been taught. Pupils in Year 7 through to Year 13
learn the skills they need to identify their own gaps in knowledge. They often

26

check their own work and rectify any gaps they have in their knowledge
accurately.

St Dominic Savio- S5 March 2020 Outstanding
https://files.ofsted.gov.uk/v1/file/50148573
What is it like to attend this school?
Pupils cannot praise their school highly enough. They relish coming each day
because they learn so much that is new and interesting. Leaders and teachers do
not place a ceiling upon what pupils can do and achieve, taking every opportunity
to reinforce their high expectations. This gives all pupils, including those with
special educational needs and/or disabilities(SEND),a tremendous sense of
purpose and ambition.
Pupils are fascinated by the world around them. They debate the big ideas that
shape the way people think, respecting the views of others. Leaders provide
excellent opportunities for pupils to develop their talents and hobbies. One pupil
commented, ‘There is something for everybody.’
The school is highly inclusive. All feel they belong to the ‘St Dominic Savio family’.
Pupils also make a strong contribution to school life. For example, they clear
dishes at lunchtime, contribute to the active school council and support their peers
with staying safe online.
Pupils are very courteous to each other and to staff. They behave exceptionally
well in class and during playtimes. Pupils and staff do not accept any form of
bullying, including the use of unkind words. Pupils feel safe and well cared for.
What does the school do well and what does it need to do better?
Teachers and leaders are dedicated to providing an excellent education for all.
They are determined that all aspects of their work contribute to this goal.
Governors ask penetrating questions about pupils’ learning and achievement. As
a result of the above, pupils achieve highly in national tests and assessments.
The school’s curriculum, including in early years, is top-notch. Children get off to a
flying start from their earliest days. The strong early years curriculum means that
children embed essential knowledge about numbers and letters. Children also
participate in play activities, which inspire them with new words and ideas. In key
stages 1 and 2, the ambitious curriculum enables pupils to build a sophisticated
web of knowledge, skills and key concepts in a range of subjects. Pupils apply
these concepts to make meaningful connections between topics. For example, in
history ,pupils could explain how the growth in the cotton trade in Victorian times
contributed to the Industrial Revolution. Pupils leave school with a very good

27

grounding in a broad range of subjects. They are extremely well prepared for the
demands of the secondary curriculum.
Teachers, including those in early years, use their excellent subject knowledge to
explain new vocabulary and bring abstract concepts to life. To embed knowledge
in pupils’ memories, teachers skilfully use a variety of assessment methods.
Teachers and assistants also support pupils with SEND exceptionally well. They
remove any barriers to these pupils participating fully in learning. For example,
teaching staff

School Performance Indicators 2020
During the lockdown response to the pandemic, significant changes have been made to
the operation of schools and examinations.
DfE have removed the testing requirements in respect of all reportable statutory
outcomes in the primary phase of education for the academic year 2020. This will
include the following:
Y1 Phonics Screening
Y2 SATs
Y6 SATs.
At KS4 and KS5 guidance has been issued to schools to submit assessments to
examination boards based on pupils completed course work and mock examinations.
This information is to be submitted by subject and each cohort ranked in order of
attainment profile. This information will then be used by the examination boards to award
final grades to students.
The DfE have indicated that all performance tables will be suspended and no data from
2020 outcomes will be used at any key stage. This means that there will be no Analyse
School Performance (ASP) reports issued by the DfE and no local or national level data
for 2020 will be available.

28

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council continues to face severe financial challenges over the coming years as
a result of reductions to public sector funding and growing pressures in our
statutory services. It is estimated that Wokingham Borough Council will be required
to make budget reductions of approximately £20m over the next three years and all
Executive decisions should be made in this context
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall

Revenue or
Capital?

Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)
Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision

Cross-Council Implications (how does this decision impact on other Council services,
including properties and priorities?)

Reasons for considering the report in Part 2

List of Background Papers

Contact Sal Thirlway

Service Learning Achievement and
Partnerships
Email gillian.cole@wokingham.gov.uk:
Sal.Thirlway@wokingham.gov.uk

Telephone No

29

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12.
TITLE

Virtual Head Report

FOR CONSIDERATION BY

Children's Services Overview and Scrutiny Committee on
17 June 2020

WARD

(All Wards);

LEAD OFFICER

Director, Children's Services - Carol Cammiss

OUTCOME / BENEFITS TO THE COMMUNITY
To improve the education of all children in the care of Wokingham and previously
looked after children in Wokingham.

RECOMMENDATION

To accept the report of the Virtual Head.

31

The vision for the Virtual School (VS) is that all our Looked After Children (LAC) achieve
expected or better than expected levels of progress and that the difference between their
achievement and non-LAC is diminished. This will be achieved through working at a
strategic and operational level within the local authority and with the many partners of
schools, health, voluntary sector, members, carers and young people.
The work of the Virtual School falls into three categories:
a) Operational support for children and young people through effective local support
and use of Pupil Premium Plus budget.
b) Training for multi-agency professionals, elected members and carers
c) Tracking, monitoring and evaluating outcomes and practice, identifying and
securing service improvements.
The Virtual School has changed to include LAC beyond the statutory schooling age of 516 and we aspire to be a good 0-25 years’ service. We are currently using two members
of the Education Welfare Service to support our work with post 16 care leavers. The
council has also given the Virtual School additional resources to recruit staff after the
Corona Virus pandemic to make this support permanent and to improve our support for
post 16 care leavers.

The Virtual School spent the last few years in decline as its capacity was drastically
reduced due the number of staff being reduced from seven to two part time staff at the
beginning of 2019. In this time numbers of looked after children have risen. Also, during
this time, the Virtual School’s responsibilities and work load have increased with the
addition of previously looked after children being added to their requirement to provide
support. As a consequence, the Virtual School only supported looked after children of
compulsory school age. This left the early years children (0-5 years old) and care leavers
(post 16) with no educational support. The most urgent need is to reduce the number of
looked after children who become NEET ( not in education, employment or training) at 17
and 19 years of age as it is too high and is a significant measure of how successful the
local authority is in supporting its looked after children into adulthood.
The arrival of the Coronavirus changed the way the Virtual School operated. It became an
in-line service as it could not attend peps or other meetings for looked after children. The
use of skype and Microsoft Teams has enabled the team to adapt very quickly to the new
circumstances and most meetings have now resumed using these IT tools.
Before the arrival of the Corona Virus, the Virtual School had arranged for all carers to
have access to the epep system. This is for carers to have an equal part in the pep
meetings which will be on line until at least September. This is not a temporary move as
carers need to be recognised as an equal partner with social workers and designated
teachers in supporting the education of looked after children. It will enable carers to see
the epep on line as well as help fill in the young person’s section which has moved to be
the first section as it as the most important part of a pep.

32

The pep itself has been overhauled to make it far simpler for everyone to use and reflect
the current crisis.
The Virtual School now has a website (available from 1st June 20) which is a huge
improvement on the one page previously available. It is growing and aims to support
everyone involved in the education of looked after children and care leavers.

(ii) ALL AGE GROUPS
The Virtual School has arranged for a number of developments.
Schools have been contacted to ask them to report on attendance of looked after children
on a weekly basis.
All looked after children have been offered an on line tutor. The Virtual School pays for on
line personal tuition to all Wokingham’s Looked After Children and care leavers still in
education to support them with the school work being sent home. They can have 2 one
hour lessons a week which the Virtual School pays for using Pupil Premium plus. We are
trying to encourage as many children (and care leavers) as possible to make use of this
invaluable asset.
Carers have been offered a free education course to allow them to become education
mentors. This has been paid for by the Virtual School.
Carers have been given a free extensive library of resources to enable them to investigate
or read about all areas of education concerned with the education of looked after children.
This has been paid for by the Virtual School.
The Virtual School has been in contact with carers who have needed advice or practical
help with on line schooling for their children.
Social workers have been contacted to give them access to all the on line support
resources available to looked after children. They have been asked to encourage the
children to make use of these and to contact the Virtual School if they find any child who
is struggling with access or hardware. The Virtual School has responded rapidly to any
request from social workers or carers for support.
The Virtual School has been contributing articles and advice to carer and social work
literature as well as the newsletter to Independent Reviewing Officers.
The Virtual School has written to all carers and social workers asking them to investigate
if their child is not currently receiving on line tutoring for the Virtual School project and to
try and persuade the child to take advantage of this invaluable resource.
The Virtual School has been approached by a number of private boarding schools to offer
the looked after children use of their on line schooling. This is now being made available
to all Wokingham’s looked after children. In particular, we are trialling a course on
resilience which will then be offered to all virtual schools nationally.

33

The Virtual School provided all looked after children and previously looked after children
with three specific on line education programmes to support their learning. They are
Encyclopaedia Britannica, Maths Whizz and Flash Academy.
The Virtual School has made Encyclopaedia Britannica available to all Looked After and
Previously Looked After Children. It is an on-line resource which safeguards children
when they wish to explore topics for homework in that it is a closed system with no
unsuitable material that a child might inadvertently stumble upon.
It has proved invaluable given the need for children to learn at home.

(iii) Early Years
The Early Years’ service has nominated an officer to support the Virtual School with
tracking and supporting the Under 5s who are in care.
1 nursery child was attending school before Easter during the lockdown period.
(iv) Key Stage 1 and Key Stage 2
Children below Year 5 who do not have a device to access the internet have been
supported to buy one if necessary.
Primary children are offered 2 X 45 minute 1-2-1 lessons a week with the on line tutor
using skype, zoom or another face to face programme.
(v) KS 3 and 4
Carers have been contacted to ensure the children still have devices that allow them to
access the internet. Where there have been problems we have supported carers or social
workers to resolve them
Secondary children are offered 2 X 1 hour 1-2-1 lessons a week with the on line tutor
using skype, zoom or another face to face programme.

(viii) Key Stage 5.
Care leavers in education have now been included in the 1-2-1 on line tuition offer, to
support them to continue their studies. Their ability to access the internet has also been
targeted in order to ensure they are not disadvantaged.

The Virtual School is now responding to having most of its looked after children being
educated at home. It has offered an on-line tutor programme to all children and care
leavers and currently there are 15 who have taken up the offer. We are continually
encouraging carers and social workers to sign up their children to access this as it allows
us to monitor the education the children are receiving. We receive a detailed weekly
report from the carers.

34

We have decided to keep all the pupil premium plus budget currently as so few children
are in schools so sending them money would not currently benefit our children. We are
using the pep system to analyse what financial support we can give children individually.
Wokingham already gives every Looked After Child a free laptop from Year 5. This
allowed us to offer children use of free on line programmes such as Encyclopaedia
Britannica immediately and not have to wait for the government’s hardware programme.
Children under Year 5 have been assessed individually and those needing a device have
had one supplied.

Attendance
FROM 1.4.20 to 19.5.0
15 Children.

Name
A
B
C
D
E
F
G
H
I
J
K
L
M
N
O

School

key Stage
Key Stage 2
Key Stage 2
Key Stage 1
Reception
Key Stage 4
Key Stage 3
Key Stage 2
Key Stage 2
Early Years
Key Stage 2
Key Stage 3
Key Stage 2
Key Stage 2
Reception
Key Stage 2

Attendance
51.47%
38.57%
50.00%
85.29%
14.71%
42.65%
39.71%
82.35%
36.76%
72.06%
42.65%
38.57%
22.06%
35.29%
11.76%

Days Attended
17.5
13.5
17
29
5
14.5
13.5
28
12.5
24.5
14.5
13.5
7.5
12
4

This chart details the looked after children currently attending schools.
The company employed to track all our Looked After Children’s attendance and
exclusions were unable to deliver their contact beyond monitoring 10 children. The Virtual
School enlisted the help of social care and the fostering service to contact every school
and carer to track the attendance of our children at that time.
We now use our epep system to do this for all children and we negotiated it for free. We
ask schools to enter attendance data weekly and we then receive a report telling us how
many looked after children are in school.

35

Before Easter 7 looked after children went back to school. This is 8% of school aged
Wokingham Looked After Children. Following extensive work with carers and social
workers to encourage looked after children to return to school this has risen to 14 which is
16% of the cohort. Given that national figures report that a maximum of 5% of vulnerable
children have been attending school, this is a rapid increase and one which we hope to
sustain. Currently there are 29 schools sending attendance data every week and we are
contacting those who have not to help them complete this task.

We have had to completely rethink our spending strategy for Pupil premium Plus. It had
been decided to give every school £500 per term per looked after child. This is now
unrealistic as most will not have had a looked after child this term. It is envisaged that the
demand for extra support will be great after September and so the termly amount will not
resume before the next financial year.
The spending to date from the Pupil premium Plus budget has centred almost entirely on
paying for tutoring although we have also bought hardware for any looked after children
who had moved and needed immediate support. We have also paid for carer training.

The Virtual School now has a website (available from 1st June 20) which is a huge
improvement on the one page previously available. It is growing and aims to support
everyone involved in the education of looked after children and care leavers.
The Virtual School has linked up with the Royal Springboard Foundation to explore the
option of Looked After, and Previously Looked After Children, attending boarding schools
where this is deemed to be the best care and educational provision for their needs.
Going Forward.
* The Virtual School will continually monitor its structure ensuring high quality support and
value for money.
* The Virtual School will sustain its relentless drive on raising the progress and
achievement of our young people and fully utilise educational planning to achieve this.
* The Virtual School will continue its drive to reduce the number of Young people not
engaged in Education, Employment or Training (NEET)

36

Background
Looked After Children in Wokingham are served by good schools that ensure most of
them achieve their educational potential. The longer a child is in care, and the more
stable their placement, the better they achieve. It is post 16 where Wokingham has
struggled to support the education of its looked after children when they become care
leavers. One reason is the lack of an officer in the Virtual School taking responsibility for
tracking and then supporting the young people to choose good options and then
encourage them to stick to the courses if they become difficult. The council has
recognised this and has given the Virtual School extra funds to improve the level of
staffing and this will be the first priority.

Analysis of Issues
Lack of capacity to tackle the complex reasons why looked after children lag behind their
peers is the biggest issue facing the Virtual School. The extra budget allocated by the
council will go a long way towards solving this.
The Corona Virus has become a major issue for all Virtual Schools and Wokingham’s in
particular. Fortunately, the Virtual School has received support from Wokingham’s Schools
ICT Commissioning Service to supply all Year 5 and above looked after children with a
free laptop or tablet every three years. This enabled the Virtual School to respond very
quickly to the issue of home schooling.
The use of the epep system to collect attendance and exclusion data has also enabled the
Virtual School to overcome the issue of losing control over monitoring attendance and
exclusions at the beginning of the Corona Virus pandemic.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS OF THE RECOMMENDATION
The Council faces severe funding pressures, particularly in the face of the COVID-19
crisis. It is therefore imperative that Council resources are focused on the
vulnerable and on its highest priorities.
How much will it
Cost/ (Save)
Current Financial
Year (Year 1)
Next Financial Year
(Year 2)
Following Financial
Year (Year 3)

Revenue or
Capital?

N/A

Is there sufficient
funding – if not
quantify the Shortfall
N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

Other financial information relevant to the Recommendation/Decision

Cross-Council Implications (how does this decision impact on other Council services,
including properties and priorities?)

Public Sector Equality Duty

37

Please confirm that due regard to the Public Sector Equality Duty has been taken and if
an equalities assessment has been completed or explain why an equalities assessment
is not required.
Reasons for considering the report in Part 2

List of Background Papers

Contact Patrick Finegan
Telephone No 077398 00207

Service Learning Achievement and
Partnerships
Email patrick.finegan@wokingham.gov.uk

38

39

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 14.

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

41

This page is intentionally left blank

